No. 24-CV-892 
 

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS 
 

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, 
APPELLANT, 

 
V. 
 

ESTATE OF DEANGELO GREEN, 
APPELLEE. 

 

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE 
SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
 

BRIAN L. SCHWALB 
Attorney General for the District of Columbia 
 
CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE 
Solicitor General 
  
ASHWIN P. PHATAK 
Principal Deputy Solicitor General 
  
GRAHAM E. PHILLIPS 
Deputy Solicitor General 
 
*STACY L. ANDERSON 
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
Office of the Solicitor General 
 
Office of the Attorney General 
400 6th Street, NW, Suite 8100 
Washington, D.C. 20001 
(202) 724-6625

INTRODUCTION 

 DeAngelo Green was tragically killed when his vehicle was struck in an 

intersection by a D.C. Fire and Emergency Medical Services (FEMS) fire engine on 

an emergency run.  Green’s wife and his estate’s personal representative, T’Anita 

Coles-Green, sued the District for wrongful death, alleging that the fire-engine 

operator was grossly negligent.  See D.C. Code § 2-412 (requiring gross negligence 

in cases involving emergency vehicles on emergency runs).  At the end of a winding 

procedural path that included two jury trials, the Superior Court entered a judgment 

of more than $13.5 million against the District.  But that journey was marred by 

reversible errors at multiple stops along the way.  For any of those reasons, the 

District is entitled to judgment as a matter of law—or at a minimum a new trial.  

 First, Coles-Green failed in her case in chief.  Her claim of gross negligence 

required her to present an expert who could establish a national standard of care, 

framed in specific and measurable terms, for the safe operation of fire engines on 

emergency runs.  Her experts did none of these things.  They offered only vague, 

inconclusive standards based on local customs, not national standards.  On this 

evidence, the case never should have gone to the jury.  Instead, the trial court should 

have entered judgment for the District. 

 Second, if not judgment in its favor, then the District was entitled to a new 

trial.  The District maintained that Green was contributorily negligent for failing to 
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exercise ordinary care and yield to the fire engine.  On the eve of closing arguments, 

after the District had presented its entire case, Coles-Green moved to strike the 

District’s contributory negligence defense on the theory that only gross negligence 

(i.e., recklessness) by Green would preclude the District’s liability.  The trial court 

initially refused to strike the defense—and rightly so, given the unfairness of this 

last-minute attempt to upend the legal framework under which the parties had tried 

the case.  The jury then returned a verdict for the District after finding that Green 

was contributorily negligent.  

 After the trial, however, the court reconsidered and decided that Coles-Green 

was right about the applicable principles of contributory fault.  But rather than 

simply grant Coles-Green a new trial, the court entered judgment as a matter of law 

on liability against the District.  It did so even though Coles-Green had never moved 

for judgment as a matter of law under Super. Ct. Civ. R. 50, an absolute prerequisite 

to such relief.  The court instead asserted that such relief could be granted under 

Super. Ct. Civ. R. 59(a), but in doing so relied on a subsection of that rule that applies 

only to nonjury trials.  That was legal error.  Moreover, even if this relief were not 

barred as a matter of law, it was an abuse of discretion not to allow a retrial on 

liability given the course of the litigation and the unfair surprise to the District.  

 Third, a new trial is independently required because of multiple, prejudicial 

evidentiary errors by the trial court.  Green had a history of using phencyclidine 
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(PCP), and a toxicology report from his autopsy revealed that he was under the 

influence of PCP at the time of the accident.  This evidence was highly probative of 

his contributory fault and, in combination with evidence of his inattentive driving 

moments before the accident, could have persuaded a jury that he was reckless.  Yet 

the trial court excluded the evidence of PCP intoxication, wrongly deeming it 

irrelevant and inadmissible hearsay, and wrongly concluding that the District needed 

supporting expert testimony.  The trial court also prejudicially erred by permitting 

an accident reconstructionist to testify about the safe driving practices for fire 

engines, a topic on which he had no expertise—testimony that was critical to Coles-

Green’s case for gross negligence. 

 Fourth, following the damages trial, the jury awarded Coles-Green and 

Green’s children over $13.5 million—an insupportable sum.  The award is 

speculative because Coles-Green gave the jury none of the information it needed to 

discount its award to present value.  The award was also excessive in that it was 

based on passion, prejudice, and improper considerations such as abstract “justice” 

to Green’s family and non-economic damages covering pain and suffering, which 

cannot be recovered under the District’s Wrongful Death Act. 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

 1. Whether the trial court erred by denying the District’s motion for judgment 

as a matter of law where Coles-Green failed to establish the applicable standard of 
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care for her gross negligence claim. 

 2. Alternatively, whether the trial court erred by entering judgment as matter 

of law for Coles-Green on liability where Coles-Green waived that relief, and also 

whether the trial court abused its discretion by ordering a new trial on damages only. 

 3. Whether the trial court independently erred by excluding evidence of 

Green’s PCP use and intoxication and by admitting the testimony of an expert on a 

subject—the safe operation of a fire engine—about which he had no expertise.  

 4. Whether trial court abused its discretion in denying the District’s motion 

for remittitur or a new trial on damages where the award was speculative, excessive, 

and based on improper considerations.   

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 Coles-Green sued the District in April 2019.  Joint Appendix (JA) 2.  Her 

amended complaint asserted gross negligence, a survival action, and wrongful death 

claims.  Following discovery, the District moved for summary judgment, which the 

trial court denied in January 2022.  JA 9, 302-24.  The case went to trial before a 

jury in June 2023, and the jury returned a verdict for the District.  JA 19-21, 1143. 

 Coles-Green moved for a new trial under Super. Ct. Civ. R. 59(a).  JA 1145-

62.  The Superior Court granted her motion.  JA 1169-88.  In doing so, it entered 

judgment as a matter of law for Coles-Green on liability and ordered a new trial on 

damages only.  JA 1169, 1187.  After the February 2024 damages trial, the jury 
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awarded Coles-Green and Green’s six children $13,574,680.95.  JA 25-26, 1207. 

 The court entered judgment for Coles-Green on April 3, 2024.  JA 26, 1209-

11.  The District filed a timely post-trial motion May 1, 2024.  JA 26.  The Superior 

Court denied that motion on August 30, 2024.  JA 1244-60.  The District noted a 

timely appeal on September 30, 2024.  JA 27. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

1. The March 2018 Accident. 

A. Firefighter Joseph Tate’s background and training. 

 Joesph Tate was a FEMS fire technician who drove a fire engine.  

Supplemental Record (SR) 1 at 207-08.  He graduated from the academy in 2008.  

SR4 at 84, 93.  There, he took an emergency vehicle driving course established by 

the National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) and was licensed to drive a fire 

engine.  SR4 at 94-96; JA 1266-67, 1269.   

 Tate was taught that it was FEMS policy to come to a complete stop for a red 

light and not to exceed the posted speed limit by more than 10 miles per hour (mph) 

when driving a fire engine.  SR1 at 211-12; SR4 at 104-07; JA 1267, 1317-18.  He 

also understood that, under the District’s traffic regulations, he could go through an 

intersection on a red light after slowing down and exercising caution while on an 

emergency run.  SR4 at 86; 18 DCMR § 2002.2 (permitting a fire truck driver on an 

emergency run to “[p]roceed past a red or stop signal or sign, but only after slowing 

down as may be necessary for safe operation” and “[e]xceed the prima facie speed 
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limit so long as it does not endanger life or property”). 

 After graduating from the academy, Tate served a six-month probationary 

period where he drove a fire engine on nonemergency calls so his superiors could 

evaluate his driving.  SR4 at 84, 95.  Only after successfully completing probation 

did he drive on emergency runs.  SR4 at 95-96.   

B. Tate’s engine company is dispatched to an apartment fire.  

 Ten years later, in March 2018, Tate was stationed at Engine Company 26, 

which sat between 13th Street and 14th Street, N.E., at 1340 Rhode Island Avenue, 

N.E.  SR1 at 190; SR4 at 80; JA 1289.  On the morning of March 9, shortly before 

noon, Company 26 was dispatched to an apartment building fire.  SR4 at 80-81, 111.  

Tate drove Truck 26, a fire engine that weighed about 37,000 pounds and was loaded 

with 500 gallons of water that added another 3,000 pounds to its weight.  SR4 at 34, 

82, 108.  The truck was equipped with at least 15 warning lights and had three 

different audible warning devices.  SR1 at 190-91; SR4 at 82; SR5 at 28-29.   

 As he pulled out of the station, Tate immediately turned on all the engine’s 

lights and sirens.  SR4 at 84, 89.  He turned right onto Rhode Island, traveling 

westbound.  SR2 at 140; SR4 at 84-85; JA 1289.  From his vantage point at 13th 

Street, the intersection with 12th Street appeared clear.  SR4 at 85.   

C. The 12th Street and Rhode Island Avenue intersection. 

 The intersection at 12th Street and Rhode Island is a “four way controlled 
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intersection.”  JA 1353; see JA 1280.  The 1200 block of Rhode Island consists of 

three eastbound and three westbound lanes.  SR1 at 153; SR2 at 137; JA 1280, 1353.  

South of Rhode Island is Saratoga Avenue.  SR1 at 153; SR2 at 137; JA 1280, 1353.  

It is a two-way street that ends at Rhode Island and connects with 12th Street, which 

continues two ways on the north side.  SR1 at 153; SR2 at 137; JA 1280, 1353.  12th 

Street south of Rhode Island is one way southbound.  SR2 at 137; JA 1280, 1353. 

 

Screen shot: https://www.openstreetmap.org/#map=18/38.923670/-76.990423.1 

 
1  This map was not admitted into evidence and is offered only to aid the reader.  
Similar depictions can be found at JA 1279-80, 1289, 1353. 
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 The traffic signals for both directions on Rhode Island were red or green at 

the same time.  SR1 at 188; SR2 at 137-38, 144-45.  When the light was green for 

Rhode Island, it was red for Saratoga and 12th Streets.  SR1 at 154, 188; SR2 at 137-

39.  When the signals changed, the lights for northbound Saratoga turned green first.  

SR2 at 137-39, 145-46.  This included a left turn signal allowing traffic to turn 

westbound on Rhode Island.  SR1 at 142-43, 154; SR2 at 137-39, 145-47.  When the 

Saratoga left turn signal went off, the lights for 12th Street southbound turned green.  

SR1 at 143; SR2 at 137-39, 145-46.   

D. As Tate travels from 13th to 12th Street along Rhode Island, Green 
and other drivers are stopped at the intersection.   

 FEMS fire technician Clifford Miller was driving an out-of-service ladder 

truck eastbound on Rhode Island avenue when he stopped for a red light at 12th 

Street.  SR1 at 141, 156, 183-84, 187, 190.  He heard the dispatch for Company 26 

and could see and hear Truck 26 leaving the fire station a block and a half away with 

is lights and sirens activated.  SR1 at 185, 189-90, 192, 194, 203; JA 1289.  Miller 

remained stopped for about a minute as Tate approached.  SR1 at 184, 192, 204.   

 Green had begun working for So Others Might Eat (SOME) as a maintenance 

technician about six weeks before the accident.  See SR2 at 22; JA 1336.  That day 

was payday, and Green left work at lunchtime to cash his check.  SR2 at 37, 73-74.  

On his way back to work, Green was headed northbound on Saratoga.  SR1 at 175.  

His windows were rolled down.  SR1 at 196.  When he reached the intersection with 
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Rhode Island the light was red and there was a car stopped ahead of him and one in 

the left turn lane.  SR1 at 150, 169-70, 172; SR2 at 143.  Upon stopping, Green left 

a gap of about two car lengths between his car and the one in front of him.  SR1 at 

175.  This put him 75-100 feet from the stop bar—the white line marking where to 

stop at the intersection.  SR1 at 195; SR5 at 21-22. 

 Stuart McKnight worked as a truck driver for the U.S. Postal Service.  SR1 at 

165.  That morning, he was also traveling northbound on Saratoga.  SR1 at 168.  

When he reached the intersection with Rhode Island, he stopped behind Green.  SR1 

at 169, 175.  Across Rhode Island, Andre Tobe was traveling southbound on 12th 

Street.  SR1 at 143, 154.  He was also stopped for the red light at Rhode Island.  SR1 

at 140, 143, 154, 160-61.   

E. As Tate nears 12th Street, Green enters the intersection on a green 
light while all others yield to Tate.   

 While Tobe was stopped at the red light (north of Rhode Island), he heard 

Tate’s sirens, and they were loud.  SR1 at 143-44, 155-56.  He looked around for the 

fire truck and eased forward.  SR1 at 144-45, 156.  When he reached the crosswalk, 

he could hear the sirens coming from his left.  SR1 at 156. 

 While they were sitting at the red light, McKnight saw Green rummaging in 

the back of his car.  SR1 at 170, 178-79.  Green then turned to face forward.  SR1 at 

170, 179.  After that, the lights for northbound Saratoga turned green.  SR1 at 169-

70.  The car in front of Green moved through the intersection.  SR1 at 170, 172-73, 
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176; SR2 at 143.  The car in the left lane turned onto Rhode Island.  SR1 at 172-73, 

195; SR2 at 143; SR4 at 88, 98.  After the turn arrow on Saratoga went off, Tobe’s 

light turned green, but he stayed put because he heard the sirens and was being 

careful.  SR1 at 157-58, 161.  At that point, all other cars had stopped.  SR1 at 159.   

 Although the cars ahead of him had advanced through the intersection, Green 

did not move forward until after McKnight had honked at him three times.  SR1 at 

170, 173, 179-80.  It was then that McKnight heard the sirens from Truck 26.  SR1 

at 171, 173, 177-80.  McKnight did not move but checked his mirrors.  SR1 at 171, 

178, 180.  Although McKnight could hear the sirens, Green continued toward the 

intersection.  SR1 at 171, 178.   

F. Tate reaches the 12th Street intersection and collides with Green. 

 The posted speed limit on Rhode Island was 30 mph.  SR2 at 156; SR4 at 34.  

As he traveled between 13th Street and 12th Street, Tate reached a speed of about 

54 mph.  SR2 at 153; SR4 at 34, 110; JA 1364.  The intersection continued to appear 

clear to Tate.  SR 1 at 209-10; SR4 at 88, 102.  Tate applied his brakes before 

reaching 12th Street but did not stop for the red light.  SR 1 at 158-59, 185-86, 198, 

209-10; SR2 at 140; SR4 at 105-06, 111; SR5 at 5-6; JA 1294, 1363.   

 According to Tobe and Miller, Green was just coming across the Saratoga 

stop bar when Tate began braking.  SR1 at 159-60, 198.  No other cars were moving.  

SR1 at 159, 162, 177-78, 195.  Green was traveling about 15-20 miles per hour and 
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had only one hand on his steering wheel.  SR1 at 185, 187, 204-05.  He maintained 

a constant speed and did not brake, swerve, or honk.  SR1 at 161-62, 195-97, 204; 

SR4 at 89; SR5 at 27-28, 31-32.  He simply proceeded into the intersection, staring 

forward and never turning his head to look at Tate.  SR1 at 196-97, 202; SR4 at 32. 

 Tate took evasive action to avoid the accident, further applying his brakes and 

swerving right.  SR4 at 34, 88-89; SR5 at 26, 37.  When it collided with Green’s car, 

Truck 26 was traveling 40.57 mph.  JA 1364.  It pushed Green’s car to the northwest 

corner of the intersection, onto the sidewalk and into a masonry wall.  SR1 at 150, 

152, 172; SR2 at 141; SR4 at 116-17.  Green was killed instantly.  See SR1 at 199. 

 The Metropolitan Police Department’s (MPD) crash investigation identified 

Green’s failure to yield to Tate as the primary cause of the accident.  SR5 at 24-25; 

JA 1369.  According to the District’s expert accident reconstructionist, Green would 

have been able to see the fire engine no later than when he reached the Saratoga stop 

bar.  SR5 at 20, 24, 45-46.  Green traveled 90 feet beyond the stop bar before impact, 

and in the expert’s opinion he had enough time to react to avoid the collision given 

his speed and relevant distance.  SR5 at 20-24, 32-33, 37. 

2. The Emergency Run Statute. 

 The District of Columbia Employee Non-Liability Act generally waives the 

District’s immunity in negligence actions based on a District employee’s misuse of 

a government vehicle—but with the key proviso that “in the case of a claim arising 
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out of the operation of an emergency vehicle on an emergency run the District shall 

be liable only for gross negligence.”  D.C. Code § 2-412.  The accident in this case 

undisputedly involved an emergency vehicle on an emergency run.  The parties 

therefore agreed from the outset that Coles-Green needed to prove gross negligence. 

 What was not clear was the degree of contributory fault by Green that would 

defeat the District’s liability.  The District’s clear and consistent position was that 

ordinary negligence by Green would defeat liability.  As described in more detail 

below, Coles-Green did not take a consistent position on this question.  At key 

points, she either did not dispute or affirmatively agreed (as in her proposed verdict 

form, JA 1126-27) that the District needed to prove only that Green was ordinarily 

negligent.  After the close of evidence, however, she changed tack and argued that 

the District needed to prove that Green was grossly negligent (i.e., reckless), and the 

trial court ultimately agreed with that view.  This dispute about the proper standard 

of contributory fault is important context for understanding the pretrial litigation. 

3. The Court Excludes Evidence Of Green’s PCP Use And Intoxication In 
A Series Of Pretrial Rulings. 

 Green had a history of PCP use.  He was convicted in 2011 of possessing PCP.  

JA 1346.  About two weeks before this accident, Green was in another accident and 

tested positive for PCP.  JA 417-18.  When Green smoked PCP, it affected his 

behavior.  Coles-Green said that he slurred his words and became quiet.  JA 397.  

Green’s brother said that he would act “weird like slow motion,” as if his response 
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time was delayed.  JA 404-05.  He also described Green’s speech as “slow.”  JA 405. 

 Toxicology testing from Green’s autopsy revealed that he had PCP in his 

system at a blood level of .22 mg/L (220 ng/mL) and tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) 

metabolite at a level of .01 mg/L.  JA 379.  The District sought to present this 

evidence to show that Green was contributorily at fault by driving under the 

influence of a drug.  The District identified Robert Copeland, Ph.D, Chair of the 

Toxicology Department at Howard University Medical School, as an expert who 

would testify about the pharmacological effects of PCP and its relationship to the 

accident.  JA 34, 91.  Dr. Copeland described the effects of PCP, including the 

inability to focus on the task at hand and distortions of time and space.  JA 69, 71. 

 In his opinion, 220 ng/mL was a high concentration of PCP, and Green should 

have been exhibiting signs of impairment with that amount of PCP in his system.  

JA 78-79.  Pointing to literature that included PCP levels for people who were 

stopped for DUI after showing signs of impairment, he noted that the top value 

among those tested was 118 ng/mL—and that Green had almost twice that much 

PCP in his system.  JA 79, 84, 192. 

A. Motion to exclude PCP evidence at summary judgment. 

 In opposing the District’s motion for summary judgment, Coles-Green argued 

that ordinary contributory negligence by a plaintiff could not defeat a claim of gross 

negligence by the defendant.  Pl.’s Opp’n to District’s Mot. for Summ. J. Mem. 8-9.  
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Instead, a grossly negligent defendant had to show that the plaintiff was also grossly 

negligent, i.e., reckless.  Id. at 9. 

 Around the same time, Coles-Green also moved to bar the District from 

making any reference to PCP.  JA 202-220.  Unlike in her summary judgment 

opposition, she asserted that the PCP evidence was irrelevant because the District 

needed to prove only that Green was ordinarily negligent.  JA 202.  She argued that 

“the reason [Green] failed to get out of the way [of the fire truck wa]s irrelevant” 

because “Green could have been daydreaming or looking at his phone just as easily 

as being intoxicated” and still be contributorily negligent because he did not exercise 

“reasonable care.”  JA 202, 208, 210.  All the District had to show was that “Green

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