DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS No. 24-CV-892

	OF COL	
Sia	* * *	
W.Co.	/Pr	
d	OF AV	9

DICEDICE OF COLUMNIA	` `	40000
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,)	Clerk of the Court
)	Received 07/30/2025 04:34 PM
Annallant	, ,	Superior Court Negret 07/30/2025 05:17 PM
Appellant,)	
)	2019-CA-002633-B
v.)	(Williams, J.)
ESTATE OF DEANGELO GREEN,)	
)	
Appellee.)	
**********	*	

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

OF COUNSEL:

WILLIAM P. LIGHTFOOT DC Bar No. 313593

Lightfoot Law, PLLC Franklin Square 1300 I Street, NW, Suite 400 E Washington, DC 20005 blightfoot@lightfootlawdc.com 202-918-1823

ALLYSON KITCHEL DC Bar No. 496687

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

Summary Of Argument

- 1. The Estate presented admissible, legally sufficient evidence establishing the standard of care governing Tate's conduct. Applying this standard, reasonable jurors could find Tate grossly negligent; indeed the District's argument concedes the finding was reasonable if the evidence on standard of care was sufficient.
- 2. Only if jurors could reasonably find Green reckless could the District avoid liability. The Estate repeatedly and timely objected to a contributory-negligence instruction. The District proposed only a contributory-negligence instruction, never requested a contributory-recklessness instruction, and accepted the final instructions. The court correctly held the evidence could not support an instruction on Green's alleged recklessness, even if the District had requested one.
- 3. The error on the contributory-negligence instruction required a new trial, but the District's gross negligence did not require reconsideration. Determining liability was unnecessary; the new trial only required ascertaining the loss arising from Green's death.¹⁴ The circumstances of his death were irrelevant.
- 4. The Wrongful Death Act allows recovery not only for economic loss but also for noneconomic loss, for which no expert testimony is necessary. The parties' economists provided a basis for compensating economic loss. The jurors'

¹⁴ See CIVIL RULE 59(a) (a court may order a new trial on "all or some" of the issues).

collective judgment and common sense provided a basis for compensating noneconomic loss, just as the District had requested.

5. The District has not overcome the presumption of correctness. ¹⁵ The record reflects the trial court's careful management. It resolved the District's contentions in multiple rulings canvassing the record and controlling caselaw. The attentive jury determined fair relief based in law and evidence. No "miscarriage of justice" compelled a new trial or remittitur.

Argument

- I. The Record Supports The Finding On The District's Gross Negligence
- A. If The Estate Established The Standard Of Care, The District Does Not Challenge The Jury's Finding

The District does not contest the finding of gross negligence if the evidence establishing the standard of care was sufficient. *See* District Br. 1, 3-4 (Issue 1), 18-19, 25, 26-27 (Summary of Argument, Point 1), 30-44 (Argument I.)

- B. The Estate Established The Standard Of Care
- 1. Perricone Identified The Standard

Alexander Perricone identified the national standard of care without objection to the foundation for his testimony (*see* SR 2, at 94-97 (Perricone)).

¹⁵ E.g., Hill v. Medlantic Health Care Group, 933 A.2d 314, 335 n.21 (D.C. 2007).

The National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) is a national "consensus body that develops standards for any fire service-related item" (*id.* 95). Its members "all have something to do or somehow interact with the fire service"; and they have developed national "job performance requirements" for various aspects of firefighting, including driving (*id.*). Perricone identified NFPA 1002 as the standard pertinent to this case, and highlighted § 4.3 of NFPA 1002, which requires a driver like Tate to operate his fire truck "in compliance with all applicable state and local laws and departmental rules and regulations" (*id.* 95-97, 100-03, 105-110; *see also* JA 1311, Pl. Tr. Ex. 10). This standard is recognized nationally, including within the District of Columbia (SR 2, at 101-02 (Perricone)).

NFPA 1002 thus qualifies as a published authority stating the national standard of care. ¹⁶ The District does not honor the full holding of *Clark v. District of Columbia*: "the expert must clearly relate the standard of care to the practices in fact generally followed by other comparable governmental facilities *or to some standard nationally recognized by such units.*" The court correctly relied upon the italicized language (*e.g.*, JA 675-78); there was no abuse of discretion.

¹⁶ See, e.g., Hawes v. Chua, 769 A.2d 797, 806 (D.C. 2001) (noting the importance of "reference to a published standard" for establishing a national standard of care); accord, e.g., Savage v. Burgess, 71 A.3d 718, 720-21 (D.C. 2013).

¹⁷ 708 A.2d 632, 635 (D.C. 1997) (emphasis added; footnote omitted); *accord*, *Phillips v. District of Columbia*, 714 A.2d 768, 775 (D.C. 1998) (applying the italicized language to hold that the expert identified a national standard of care).

2. Miller Applied The District's Requirements

NFPA 1002 required Tate to comply with the laws, rules, and regulations of the District of Columbia, and Michael Miller was competent to identify and apply those requirements. 18 He served over 25 years with the District's police department; served as investigator in major crash investigations; "reconstructed" "[a]t least one other" crash involving a District fire truck; testified approximately 30 times; received training in accident reconstruction; earned and maintained certification as an Accredited Traffic Accident Reconstructionist; 19 and has taught "safe driving practices" (including for emergency vehicles) for the District's police department. (See SR 2, at 114-16, 129-32 (Miller).) He based his opinions about the accident on the laws, regulations, and policies of the District of Columbia; witness accounts; photographs; police reports; the GPS unit tracking Tate's fire truck; and his study of the scene, maps, and diagrams (see SR 2, at 115, 125, 128, 130-31, 135-53 (Miller)).

_

¹⁸ See, e.g., Snyder v. George Washington Univ., 890 A.2d 237, 245-46 (D.C. 2006) (expert qualified based on personal experience, education, attendance at meetings, discussions with colleagues, keeping up with the literature); accord, e.g., Savage v. Burgess, 71 A.3d 720-21 (quoting Hawes v. Chua, 769 A.2d 806, 808); Cardenas v. Muangman, 998 A.2d 303, 309-11 (D.C. 2010); Kordas v. Sugarbaker, 990 A.2d 496, 500-01 (D.C. 2010); Convit v. Wilson, 980 A.2d 1104, 1124-25 (D.C. 2009); Aikman v. Kanda, 975 A.2d 152, 160-62 (D.C. 2009).

¹⁹ See the Accreditation Commission for Accident Reconstruction web page at actar.org.

The District accepted Miller's expertise in accident reconstruction; it objected, only on alleged lack of notice, solely to Miller's competence to discuss "safe driving practices" — a subject Miller taught and the court regarded as subsumed within accident reconstruction. 20 (See SR 2, at 132-35 (Miller).)

3. The Standard Is Clear

a. The District Waived Its Current Contention. Before verdict, the District did not contend this standard was too vague to enforce. The District failed to preserve this argument.²¹

b. The Contention Lacks Merit. There is nothing ambiguous in the standard. The trial court acted within its discretion to admit the standard in evidence, and the jury reasonably applied it.²²

²⁰ See, e.g., Jung v. George Washington University, 875 A.2d 95, 104-05 (D.C. 2005) ("[w]hether a witness possesses the requisite qualifications to express an opinion on a particular subject is within the trial court's discretion"; reviewable only for "abuse" resulting in a "manifestly erroneous" ruling).

²¹Iron Vine Sec., LLC v. Cygnacom Solutions, Inc., 274 A.3d 328, 338 (D.C. 2022) ("[a] party who omits from its [Rule 50(a) pre-verdict] motion a particular evidentiary ground is precluded from later raising that theory ... in an appeal"; footnote omitted); see also Bloom v. Beam, 99 A.3d 263, 266 (D.C. 2014) (this requirement is "strictly construed").

²² See, e.g., Burke v. Scaggs, 867 A.2d 213, 219 (D.C. 2005) ("[d]etermining the applicable standard of care is a question of fact for the jury"); Bahura v. S.E.W Investors, 754 A.2d 928, 945 (D.C. 2000) ("[a]dmissibility and sufficiency ... present different issues"); District of Columbia v. Bethel, 567 A.2d 1331, 1333 (D.C. 1990) ("it is for the jury, with the assistance of vigorous cross-examination, to measure the worth of the [expert's] opinion").

(i). The standard, NFPA 1002, provides, among other things:

"This standard identifies the minimum job performance requirements (JPRs) for emergency response personnel who drive and operate fire apparatus."

"JPRs for each ... position are the tasks personnel shall be able to perform to carry out the job duties."

"Emergency response personnel who drive and operate fire apparatus shall remain current with the general knowledge, skills, and JPRs addressed for each ... position ... and shall demonstrate competency on an annual basis."

"The JPRs shall be accomplished in accordance with the requirements of the authority having jurisdiction (AHJ) and all applicable NFPA standards."

"Performance of each requirement of this standard shall be evaluated by personnel approved by the AHJ."

"The JPRs for each ... position shall be completed in accordance with recognized practices and procedures or as defined by law or by the AHJ."

"Emergency response personnel who drive and operate fire apparatus shall meet the requirements of Chapter 4 for each type of apparatus." (JA 1313, §§ 1.1, 1.2.5, 1.2.6, 1.3.1, 1.3.3, 1.3.4, 1.3.5.)

"Chapter 4" requires that, "[p]rior to operating fire department vehicles, the fire apparatus driver/operator shall meet the job performance requirements defined in Sections 4.2. and 4.3" (JA 1311, § 4.1). Section 4.3 specifies the "Requisite Knowledge" and "Requisite Skills" to assure "that the vehicle is operated in compliance with all applicable state and local laws and department rules and

regulations" (JA 1311, § 4.3.1). The "Requisite Knowledge" includes "recognition that drivers of fire apparatus are responsible for the safe and prudent operation of the vehicle under all conditions; [knowing] the effects on vehicle control of liquid surge, braking reaction time, and load factors; [the] effects of high center of gravity on ... speed ...; applicable laws and regulations; ... negotiating intersections ...; identification and operation of automotive gauges; ... operational limits ... principles of safe vehicle operation ... the common causes of fire apparatus accidents ... [and the] policies and procedures of the jurisdiction" (JA 1311-12, §§ 4.3.1(A), 4.3.2(A), 4.3.3(A), 4.3.4(A), 4.3.5(A), 4.3.6(A), 4.3.7 (A)). The "Requisite Skills" include "[t]he ability to ... maintain control of the vehicle while accelerating [and] decelerating ... given road ... and traffic conditions; ... and use automotive gauges and controls" (JA 1311-12, §§ 4.3.1(B), 4.3.6(B)).

There is no ambiguity in these words.

(ii). Nor is there is ambiguity in the requirements of the District. Tate was required "[t]o adhere to all Department procedures"; and "[t]o operate [his] emergency vehicle in a safe and prudent manner all times" (JA 1316, 1317). He was bound "to drive with due regard for the safety of all persons" (JA 1314, § 2002.4; *see also* JA 1319). He was required to "come to a full stop" at the red light, to wait "until all approaching traffic ha[d] yielded the right of way and it [was] safe to proceed," and to "ensure that all approaching vehicles in all lanes [had] yielded

the right-of-way before advancing" (JA 1318). His "<u>maximum</u> speed" was to be no more than 40 miles per hour (ten miles per hour above the posted speed limit) (JA 1318; emphasis in original), and he needed to control his speed mindful of "the design and capabilities" of his fire truck (JA 1317). *See also* SR 2, at 156-59, 162-66 (Miller) (discussing Tate's violations of the District's regulations).) In addition, Tate was bound to assure that his siren was "audible" (JA 1314, § 2002.3); the District's "Special Order" governing Tate's performance provides:

"The use of warning lights and audible warning devices does not automatically grant the right-of-way to an emergency vehicle. These devices are intended to make other drivers aware of the presence of an emergency vehicle. Other drivers are required to yield the right-of-way to an emergency vehicle; however, they cannot be expected to yield the right-of-way if they do not see or are not aware of the emergency vehicle.

"Never assume that another vehicle will yield the right of way; it is *always* the emergency vehicle driver's responsibility to ensure the other driver has yielded the right -of-way." (JA 1317; "General Safe Driving Procedures"; emphasis added.)

(iii). Tate was trained in these rules; he knew them; and he was punished for violating them. *See* JA 1316 ("Drivers and officers will be held accountable"). These rules are more detailed than some judicially approved standards governing other professions.²³ And the District's contention that NFPA 1002 relates only to

²³ E.g., Burke v. Scaggs, 867 A.2d 221 (for delivering a baby, "gentle" traction (pulling) of the child's head is the standard; "excessive force" is not).

training betrays the text of the standard and common sense. Only one section of NFPA 1002 (§ 1.3.2) directed the "authority having jurisdiction" to establish a training program "to meet the JPRs of this standard" (JA 1313). More fundamentally, the District's reading of NFPA 1002 would require a driver to learn the job performance requirements before he drives, but then permit him to ignore them thereafter. We train doctors, lawyers, or fire truck drivers to assure they meet their obligations throughout their careers, not merely as students.

4. The Standard Is National

As it did below (*see, e.g.*, SR 5, at 66-69, 72-79), the District misunderstands the evidence. Perricone identified the standard applying nationwide. To identify that national standard, Perricone did not need to know the local requirements in Baltimore, the District, or anywhere else. He simply needed to have a basis for identifying the national standard. He did that, without objection.

The national standard, among other things, requires fire truck drivers to comply with the laws, rules, and regulations of the jurisdictions in which they operate. This standard does not vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, even if the individual jurisdictions' requirements might. The standard is sensible: the permissible speed of a fire truck operating in the desert of Arizona or the plains of Nebraska can differ from that allowed in Manhattan or Washington, D.C.

C. The Jury Reasonably Found Gross Negligence

Assessing Tate's performance was for the jury.²⁴ The jurors presumptively followed their instructions defining "gross negligence" (SR 6, at 69-70).²⁵

The District does not challenge the jury's finding on Tate's gross negligence if the evidence on standard of care was sufficient. "We are obliged to accept the jury's prerogatives." Absolving Tate was not the sole conclusion available for reasonable jurors. The jury reasonably found that Tate's violations of the District's requirements met the threshold for gross negligence (*see* JA 1267-68, (Carter Dep. 11-13)). There were multiple aggravating factors: With knowledge

²⁴ Tillery v. District of Columbia, 227 A.3d 147, 153 (D.C. 2020).

²⁵ E.g., Harris v. United States, 602 A.2d 154, 165 (D.C. 1992) (en banc); see also Parker v. Randolph, 442 U.S. 62, 73 (1979) ("[a] crucial assumption underlying [trial by jury] is that juries will follow the [trial judge's] instructions").

²⁶ NCRIC, Inc. v. Columbia Hospital for Women Med. Ctr., Inc., 957 A.2d 890, 902 (D.C. 2008).

²⁷ Osman v. First Priority Management, 308 A.3d 1233, 1237 (D.C. 2024) (judgment as a matter of law is proper only in "extreme" cases where "the evidence is so clear that reasonable men could reach but one conclusion"); accord, e.g., Ramey v. Foxhall Urology, Chartered, 334 A.3d 141, 157 (D.C. 2025) (movants "face a high hurdle"); Oxendine v. Merrell Dow Pharms., 506 A.2d 1100, 1103 (D.C. 1986) (judgment as a matter of law "unusual" in negligence cases); see also Reese v. Newman, 131 A.3d 880, 883 n.5 (D.C. 2016) ("[w]e will not disturb a jury's verdict if there is 'any substantial evidence which will support the conclusion reached"; "'[s]ubstantial evidence" is "such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion"").

that 500 gallons of water sloshing around in his 20-ton truck made it even more difficult to control, Tate deliberately ignored his speedometer while accelerating to at least 54 miles per hour, at least 135 percent greater than the speed his orders allowed, and more than 20 miles per hour above the posted speed limit. He knowingly accelerated likely beyond the capacity of his siren to alert others. Professing familiarity with this residential area, he sped by a church at the intersection, and a hill partially obstructing Green's line of sight, and ran a red light without slowing. On a clear mid-morning day, Tate failed to see multiple vehicles in the intersection, and never saw Green's gold care until the collision. As the District touts (Br. 5-6) Tate was well-trained and knew better.

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